UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

INTERNATIONAL BOTTLED WATER
ASSOCIATION; NESTLE WATERS NORTH
AMERICA, INC; and POLAR CORP. d/b/a POLAR
BEVERAGES,

Plaintiffs, No.
Vs.

DAVID A. PATERSON, in his official capacity as
Governor of the State of New York; ANDREW M.
CUOMO, in his official capacity as Attorney General of
the State of New York; ALEXANDER B. GRANNIS, in
his official capacity as Commissioner of the New York
State Department of Environmental Conservation;
PATRICK HOOKER, in his official capacity as
Commissioner of the New York Department of
Agriculture and Markets; and ROBERT L. MEGNA, in
his official capacity as Commissioner of the New York
State Department of Taxation and Finance,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

Plaintiffs International Bottled Water Association, Nestlé Waters North America, Inc.,
and Polar Corp. d/b/a Polar Beverages (collectively, “Plaintiffs”), by and through their attorneys,
for their Complaint against Defendants, respectfully allege as follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. Plaintitfs bring this action to enjoin ceftain recently enacted amendments to the
New York State Returnable Container Law, known commonly as the “Bottle Bill.”

2. New York initially enacted the Bottle Bill in 1982. That law required consumers
to pay a five cent per bottle deposit when purchasing certain bottled beverages and permitted

consumers to obtain a refund of that deposit by returning the empty bottles to the retailer. On
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- April 7, 2009, as part of thé 2009-2010 budget law, New York amended the Bottle Bill. The
amended Bottle Bill requires that Plaintiffs and other beverage manufacturers and distributors
place a unique New York-exclusive bar code on all bottles covered by the law that are offered
for sale in New York. The law also prohibits bottles with the New York-exclusive bar code from
being sold in other states.

3. This New York-exclusive labeling scheme clearly violates the Commerce Clause
of the United States Constitution. It is well-settled that the “dormant” Commerce Clause
doctrine “precludes the application of a state statute to commerce that takes place wholly outside
of the State’s borders, whether or not the commerce has effects within the State.” Healy v. Beer
Institute, 491 U.S. 324, 336 (1989). By prohibiting the sale in other states of bottles bearing the
New York-exclusive bar code, the Bottle Bill unconstitutionally controls commerce occurring
entirely outside New York and therefore is invalid.

4. The amended Bottle Bill also violates the Equal Protection Clause of the
Fourteenth Amendment. The amendment expands the types of beverages covered by the law to
include “water,” and defines “water” as “any beverage identified through the use of letters,
words, or symbols on its product label as a type of water, including any flavored water or
nutritionally enhanced water, provided, however, that ‘water’ does not include any beverage
identified as a type of water to which a sugar has been added.” New York has no plausible
rational basis for treating water to which a sugar has been added differently from other types of
water and therefore the Bottle Bill’s definition of “water” violates the Equal Protection Clause of
the Fourteenth Amendment.

5. The Bottle Bill, as amended, also restricts the bottles that a retailer is required to

accept for redemption. Specifically, retailers who do not sell water bottles of a particular brand
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or from a particular manufacturer are not required to accept those bottles for redemption. New
York has no plausible rational basis for such a restriction and it therefore violates the Due |
Process and Equal Protection Clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment.

6. The amended Bottle Bill also violates the Due Process Clause and the Commerce
Clause in an additional respect. The amendment makes major changes to the Bottle Bill’s
framework and for the first time applies the Bottle Bill to bottled water producers and
distributors, who have no previous experience with the law’s provisions. The law was signed by
the Governor on April 7, 2009. It takes effect, with respect to bottled water companies, on June
1, 2009—Iess than two months after it was signed. The short time frame for compliance with the
Bottle Bill is arbitrary and irrational and thus violates Plaintiffs’ substantive due process rights
and unduly burdens interstate commerce in violation of the Commerce Clause.

PARTIES

7. The International Bottled Water Association (“IBWA?”) is a worldwide
association of bottlers, suppliers, and distributors of bottled water. IBWA has approximately 250
members, many of whom bottle, supply, or distribute bottled water products in New York.
IBWA represents all segments of the bottled water industry, including spring, mineral, artesian,
sparkling, well, groundwater and purified bottled waters. IBWA members range in size from
family owned and operated bottlers to diversified international food companies. IBWA is a
Washington, D.C. corporation with its principal place of business in Alexandria, Virginia.
IBWA brings this action to protect and vindicate the interests of its members who are directly
and adversely affected by the amended Bottle Bill. When used in this Complaint, the term

“Plaintiffs” includes the members of IBWA.
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8. Nestlé Waters North America, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its principal
place of business in Connecticut. Nestlé is one of the leading producers of bottled water
products in the United States; among its well-known brands are Poland Spring, Deer Park, and
Nestlé Pure Life. Nestl¢ distributes bottled water products in all fifty states and Canada.

9. Polar Corp., doing business as Polar Beverages, is a Massachusetts corporation
with its principal place of business in Worcester, Massachusetts, and is the parent of Adirondack
Beverages Corp., a Delaware corporation with a principal place of business in Scotia, New York.
Polar Corp. is a fourth generation family-owned company and the largest independent beverage
company in the United States. Polar produces and distributes many well-known carbonated soft
drink and bottled water brands, including Polar, Adirondack, Waist Watcher, 7Up, A&W,
Sunkist and many others throughout much of the eastern United States.

10. David A. Paterson, sued in his official capacity, is the Governor of the State of
New York and has authority over the executive agencies of the State of New York.

11. Andrew M. Cuomo, sued in his official capacity, is the Attorney General of the
State of New York and has authority to enforce the laws of the State of New York including the
provisions of the New York State Returnable Container Law.

12. Alexander B. Grannis, sued in his official capacity, is the Commissioner of the
New York State Department of Environmental Conservation, an executive agency of the State of
New York with authority to implement and enforce certain provisions of the New York State
Returnable Container Law.

13. Patrick Hooker, sued in his official capacity, is the Commissioner of the New

York State Department of Agriculture and Markets, an executive agency of the State of New
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York with authority to implement and enforce certain provisions of the New York State
Returnable Container Law.

14. Robert L. Megna, sued in his official capacity, is the Commissioner of the New
York State Department of Taxation and Finance, an executive agency of the State of New York
with authority to implement and enforce certain provisions of the New York State Returnable
Container Law.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

15.  This action is brought pursuant to Article I of the United States Constitution, the
Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

16. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343.

17. Venue in proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

18. IBWA has standing to bring its claims because its members would otherwise have
standing to sue in their own right, the interests IBWA seeks to protect are germane to IBWA’s
purpose, and neither the claims asserted nor the relief requested requires the participation of
individual IBWA members in the lawsuit.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

19. In 1982, New York enacted the New York State Returnable Container Law, N.Y.
Envtl. Conserv. Law § 27-1001 et seq., known commonly as the “Bottle Bill.”

20. When enacted, the Bottle Bill required distributors of carbonated soft drinks, beer
and malt beverages, mineral water, soda water, and wine coolers to collect a deposit of at least
five cents per bottle on all bottles offered for sale in New York. The original Bottle Bill did not

apply to bottled water (except for soda water and mineral water).
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21. The Bottle Bill permits consumers to “redeem” empty bottles by returning them to
retailers and obtaining a refund of the five cent deposit. Retailers then return the empty bottles to
the distributors for recycling and collect both the initial five cent deposit plus a handling fee.

22. To identify bottles for which the five cent deposit was paid, the Bottle Bill
requires that all bottles covered by the law, and that are offered for sale in New York, include
either on the bottle itself or on the label the dollar amount of the deposit and the words “New
York” or the letters “NY.”

23. The original Bottle Bill did not prohibit the sale in other states of bottles that bear
the “New York” or “NY” labeling.

24, New York amended the Bottle Bill as part of its 2009-2010 budget bill, which
was signed into law by Governor Paterson on April 7, 2009.

25. The amended Bottle Bill contains a new labeling requirement that provides as
follows:

Beginning on June first, two thousand and nine each deposit initiator shall register

the container label of any beverage offered for sale in the state on which it

initiates a deposit. Any such registered container label shall bear a universal

product code. Such universal product code shall be New York state specific, in

order to identify the beverage container as offered for sale exclusively in New

York state, and as a means of preventing illegal redemption of beverage

containers purchased out-of-state.

N.Y. Envtl. Conserv. Law § 27-1012.12 (2009).

26. This labeling provision requires that all bottles subject to the Bottle Bill include a
New York-exclusive Universal Product Code (bar code) that identifies the bottle as one sold
exclusively in New York.

27. The amended Bottle Bill also prohibits bottles bearing the New York-exclusive

Universal Product Code from being sold in other states.
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28. The amended Bottle Bill also expands the types of beverages covered by the law.
The Bottle Bill now applies not just to bottled soda water and mineral water, but to nearly all
forms of “water.”

29. “Water” is defined by the amended Bottle Bill as:

[A]ny beverage identified through the use of letters, words, or symbols on its

product label as a type of water, including any flavored water or nutritionally

enhanced water, provided, however, that “water” does not include any beverage

identified as a type of water to which a sugar has been added.
N.Y. Envtl. Conserv. Law § 27-1003.1.

30. Because beverages “identified as a type of water to which a sugar has been
added” are not “water” under the Bottle Bill, those beverages are exempt from the Bottle Bill’s
requirements.

31.  The Bottle Bill restricts the bottles that a retailer is required to redeem. The
Bottle Bill requires a retailer who sells bottles subject to the Bottle Bill to redeem only “empty
beverage containers of the design, shape, size, color, composition and brand sold or offered for
sale by the [retailer].” This restriction places Plaintiffs at a substantial competitive disadvantage
compared to certain of their competitors.

32. For Plaintiffs, whose bottled water products were not previously covered by the
Bottle Bill, the requirements of the amended Bottle Bill take effect on June 1, 2009.

33. Defendants acted under the color of state law in causing and threatening to cause
deprivations of Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights under the Commerce Clause of Article I of the
United States Constitution, and under the Equal Protection and Due Process Clauses of the
Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

COUNT I
DORMANT COMMERCE CLAUSE—42 U.S.C. § 1983
(NEW YORK-SPECIFIC UPC CODE—EXTRATERRITORIALITY)

7
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34. Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 to
33 of this Complaint, as if fully set forth herein.

35. The amended Bottle Bill’s New York-exclusive Universal Product Code
provision, N.Y. Envtl. Conserv. Law § 27-1012.12, regulates and/or attempts to regulate
commerce occurring wholly outside the borders of the State of New York. This provision
exceeds the inherent limits of New York State’s authority, in violation of the Commerce Clause,
Article I, Section 8, Clause 3 of the United States Constitution, and the “dormant” commerce
clause doctrine.

36. Plaintiffs will suffer immediate and irreparable harm if Defendants are permitted
to implement and enforce the New York-exclusive Universal Product Code provision of the
Bottle Bill.

37. Plaintiffs are therefore entitled to a declaratory judgment that the New York-
exclusive Universal Product Code provision of the amended Bottle Bill is unconstitutional under
the Commerce Clause. Plaintiffs are further entitled to a preliminary and permanent injunction
enjoining Defendants from implementing or enforcing the New York-exclusive Universal
Product Code provision.

COUNT I
DORMANT COMMERCE CLAUSE—42 U.S.C. § 1983
(NEW YORK-SPECIFIC UPC CODE—EXCESSIVE
BURDEN ON INTERSTATE COMMERCE)

38. Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 to

37 of this Complaint, as if fully set forth herein.

39. The amended Bottle Bill’s New York-exclusive Universal Product Code

provision, N.Y. Envtl. Conserv. Law § 27-1012.12, imposes a burden on interstate commerce
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that is clearly excessive in relation to any putative local benefit, in violation of the Commerce
Clause, Article I, Section 8, Clause 3 of the United States Constitution, and the “dormant”
commerce clause doctrine.

40.  Plaintiffs will suffer immediate and irreparable harm if Defendants are permitted
to implement and enforce the New York-exclusive Universal Product Code provision of the
Bottle Bill.

41. Plaintiffs are therefore entitled to a declaratory judgment that the New York-
exclusive Universal Product Code provision of the amended Bottle Bill is unconstitutional under
the Comrherce Clause. Plaintiffs are further entitled to a preliminary and permanent injunction
enjoining Defendants from implementing or enforcing the New York-exclusive Universal
Product Code provision.

COUNT 111
DORMANT COMMERCE CLAUSE—42 U.S.C. § 1983
(NEW YORK-SPECIFIC UPC CODE—DISCRIMINATION
AGAINST INTERSTATE COMMERCE)

42. Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 to
41 of this Complaint, as if fully set forth herein.

43. The amended Bottle Bill’s New York-exclusive Universal Product Code
provision, N.Y. Envtl. Conserv. Law § 27-1012.12, discriminates against interstate commerce in
violation of the Commerce Clause, Article I, Section 8, Clause 3 of the United States
Constitution, and the “dormant” commerce clause doctrine.

44, Plaintiffs will suffer immediate and irreparable harm if Defendants are permitted

to implement and enforce the New York-exclusive Universal Product Code provision of the

Bottle Bill.
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45. Plaintifts are therefore entitled to a declaratory judgment that the New York-
exclusive Universal Product Code provision of the amended Bottle Bill is unconstitutional under
the Commerce Clause. Plaintiffs are further entitled to a preliminary and permanent injunction
enjoining Defendants from implementing or enforcing the New York-exclusive Universal

Product Code provision.

COUNT IV
EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE—42 U.S.C. § 1983
(EXCLUSION OF “WATER TO WHICH A SUGAR HAS BEEN ADDED”)

46. Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 to
45 of this Complaint, as if fully set forth herein.

47. Plaintiffs and other companies that produce and distribute ordinary bottled water
products are treated differently from similarly-situated companies that produce or distribute
“water to which a sugar has been added” because the definition of “water” in the amended Bottle
Bill, N.Y. Envtl. Conserv. Law § 27-1003.1, excludes water to which a sugar has been added.

48. The definition of “water,” with its exclusion of “water to which a sugar has been
added,” is arbitrary and irrational, lacks any plausible rational basis, and/or is based on facts
which could not reasonably be conceived to be true by'lawmakers of the State of New York. For
example, the exclusion of “water to which a sugar has been added” substantially undermines the
environmental goals of the Bottle Bill and the 2009 amendments thereto, without a rational basis.
Accordingly, the definition of “water” in the arﬁended Bottle Bill violates the Equal Protection
Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

49. Plaintiffs will suffer immediate and irreparable harm if Defendants are permitted

to implement and enforce the definition of “water” in the Bottle Bill.
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50. Plaintiffs are therefore entitled to a declaratory judgment that the definition of
“water” in the amended Bottle Bill is unconstitutional under the Equal Protection Clause.
Plaintiffs are further entitled to a preliminary and permanent injunction enjoining Defendants
from implementing or enforcing the definition of “water” contained in the amended Bottle Bill.

COUNT V
DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSES—42 U.S.C. § 1983
(RESTRICTION ON REDEEMING PLAINTIFFS’ BOTTLES)

51. Plaintiffs restate and incorporate by reference the allegations of paragraphs 1 to
50 of this Complaint, as if fully set forth herein.

52. The Bottle Bill requires a retailer who sells bottles subject to the Bottle Bill to
redeem only “empty beverage containers of the design, shape, size, color, composition and brand
sold or offered for sale by the [retailer].” As a result of this provision, retailers who do not sell
Plaintiffs’ bottled water products are not required to redeem bottles manufactured or distributed
by those Plaintiffs.

53. The restriction on bottles that a retailer is required to redeem is arbitrary and
irrational, lacks any plausible rational basis, and/or is based on facts which could not reasonably
be conceived to be true by lawmakers of the State of New York. Accordingly, the restriction on
bottles that a retailer is required to redeem violates the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses
of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

54. Plaintiffs will suffer immediate and irreparable harm if Defendants are permitted
to implement and enforce the restrictions on the bottles that a retailer is required to redeem.

55. Plaintiffs are therefore entitled to a declaratory judgment that the restrictions on

the bottles that a retailer is required to redeem in the Bottle Bill are unconstitutional under the

Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses. Plaintiffs are further entitled to a preliminary and
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